#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

CASE NO. SC00-1550

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: 4D98-2170

LUIS JOHN CRUZ, by and through his Parent, JANE ALICE CRUZ, and JANE ALICE CRUZ, individually,

**Petitioners** 

-VS-

### BROWARD COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD,

Respondent

\_\_\_\_\_

## PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

# ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

GALE CICERIC PAYNE, ESQ. FLORIDA BAR NO. 306967 Gale Payne & Associates 1220 East Broward Boulevard Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301-2134 Telephone (954) 761-9600 Telefax (954) 760-9907

Counsel For Cruz Family Petitioners

# **

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Jury Verdict Decreed The School Board Negligent In Providing An Unreasonably Unsafe Environment For Student Louie John Cruz At Miramar High School.

On November 30, 1993 at Miramar High School, student Marie Tyther was the last to exit Miss Burgess' portable class when she witnessed Louie John Cruz and another student, Donny Velasquez, in the middle of a verbal confrontation. (T.696, 700-01). She observed Donny calling Louie Cruz "stupid, you stupid ESE kid" and Louie fixing his glasses, holding onto his school bag with his hand and swinging to get away from Donny. (T.701-04) Miss Tyther recounted that Louie John was not saying anything much during the incident, "just like get away, get away, swinging his arms, just telling him to get away from him" (T.705) "and not hurt him or anything, not meaning to start a fight with Donny . . ." (T.722) She came up to Donny and said, "why don't you leave him alone, he doesn't know better." Fearing that Donny would hit her too, she stepped away then turned and saw that Donny picked up Louie and "slammed" him straight down flat on his back. Louie "went all the way down to hit his head first on the ground . . . on the concrete." (T.704-05, 732) When Louie cried and held his head, Donny ran away and left with a friend. (T.702). The day of the incident, she saw no ESE teachers out in the area, e.g. Miss Burgess, Miss Siskind, Mr. Peskin, Mr. Schaffer. (T. 696-97)

Per Louie John Cruz, the day of the incident it was raining and he was running to get to his next class with Mr. Peskin. When he saw the other two boys involved in the incident, he put his hand out in peace to shake their hand. They squeezed his hand, wouldn't let go, picked him up, slammed him on his head to the ground and ran away. The back of his head above the neck hit the ground. (T.2894-2904) No teachers were around. (T.2899-2900)

Donny Velasquez, a tenth grader, wrestler and football player at Miramar High (T. 2995, 3043), gave three different versions of what happened. At trial: Luis put out his hand to shake mine and squeezed my hand real hard<sup>1</sup>; When I shook Luis' hand and started to put pressure, Luis karate chopped me; I grabbed Luis right away, picked him up, threw him down, "heard him say help, help" and walked away. (T. 2990-91, 2993, 3038-39) Velasquez did not see if Louie's head hit the ground (T. 2993) but swore that he "didn't hit his head." (T.3036) Velasquez told the jury that neither he nor Louie exchanged words during the episode. (T.2991, 2993) He denied everything said by Marie Tyther and even her presence at the scene. (T.3037, 3040-41) He could not say if there were any teachers out there to supervise at the time (T.3042)

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dr. Appel testified that Louie's hypotonia would not allow him to squeeze a hand with any degree of strength to alarm anyone. (T.1157)

Signed Statement of Velasquez on 11/30/93, Exhibit 24: On 11/30/93 between classes, I approached Luis, playing around and started to shake hands, then Luis started to say he's the man and all that other crazy stuff. (T. 3028, 3030) Luis started taking swings at me, then I picked him up, threw him on the ground and went to class. (T.3029) Sworn Statement of Velasquez on 5/23/97: I put Luis in a bear hug, real quick not for long and let him go. I just dropped him and he fell to the ground. (T.3035) When asked at trial which version is true, Velasquez replied, "The one I gave this morning." (T.3034)

Manuel Nuñez, a ninth grader at Miramar High, testified that Louie was running to his next class when he stuck his hand out to Donny; Donny and Louie were shaking hands when Louie started chopping Donny; Donny pulled away; When Louie did not stop hitting, Donny grabbed Louie in a bear hug, picked him off the ground and let him go. (T.3061-3074) Nuñez told the jury that Louie said nothing during this time. (T.3064, 3073)

On 02/15/94 Nuñez sent Louie a get-well note. (T. 3078-79, Defendant's Exhibit 3) It said, "I was there, but was not the one who hit you. . . . Many people believe that I have done this. I haven't. So I hope the person who did it will face the consequences." Nuñez admitted that there were no teachers to supervise Donny Velasquez, himself and any other children out there. (T3089)

The ESE teachers at Miramar High on 11/30/93 admitted that they were unable to supervise the students changing classes before the incident. Miss Burgess testified that she was not outside supervising the students after the bell rung from her class. She was inside, in the loud noise of the air conditioning, listening to and comforting a crying student, who stayed behind to talk about her parents' divorce. (T.526-27, 561-65) After this student had explained the things that were going on in her home, Miss Burgess heard a cry, opened the door of her classroom, looked outside, and saw no one from Administration in the portable area, only Louie John on the ground holding his head and crying help me, help me. (T.527-28) Miss Burgess saw Louie later that day in the school clinic. To use her words, "he wasn't talking, he was – he was like not moving, he wasn't emotional . . . he seemed just despondent, he just looked and stared"—in a phrase not the Louie she knew from that morning. (T.529).

Miss Siskind testified that, although Louie John had attended her class right before the incident, she was unable to stand by her door and watch the students going to their next class. Like Miss Burgess, she too had been detained by a student, hers with a motor disorder who needed help getting books in his bag. She explained that she could not go outside to supervise if that meant leaving a student alone in her classroom. (T.593-94) She learned of

the incident when she heard another teacher yell. (T.596) She saw no administrators in the area. (T.599)

Mr. Peskin admitted that he too did not see the incident. (T3109) He said he was outside but looking the other way. Afterwards, he heard a scream, saw a bunch of students huddled around Louie John who "was obviously hurt in some sort of way." (T.3113) He did not recall seeing another teacher outside supervising and controlling students on that day. (T.3183)

Miss Esposito said she was inside her classroom when she "heard like a gang type yelling outside. I stuck my head out, I saw a person in a blue jacket lift up Louie Cruz and slam him down in a head first type manner." (T.3263 again 3266) It wasn't a bear hug. (T.3292) When she first observed the incident Louie John was already in the air. (T.3266) She could not see him strike the ground but noticed "gravel in his hair" (T.3278) and said that "the way he was being thrown indicated that his head was going to hit." (T.3279) She "heard a loud hollow type thud" which she "thought it was his head" *Id.* or, more precisely, a bang which was not be confused with a book bag hitting the cement. (T.3292) Miss Esposito described the bang as "a chilling sound." *Id.* She too did not notice any teachers or aides out there that day to stop any confrontations. (T.3287-88) No other teachers testified at trial.

The defense urged that the incident happened in the blink of any eye and couldn't be prevented. But, evidence as detailed above existed for the jury to conclude otherwise. For example, the amount of time needed to allow Miss Burgess to talk after class with a crying student about her parents' divorce, Miss Siskind to help her student after class and Marie Tyther to try and intervene are more accurate gauges of elapsed time than a person's recollection four years after the event. (T.4561-63)

Evidence at trial portrayed this incident as foreseeable, arguably even inevitable. The ESE teachers at Miramar High drafted and sent a memo as well as a letter. The memo dated 11/09/93 from the ESE Department, addressed to Mr. Robert Gillette, Principal and typed on Miramar High School stationary was introduced into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit 2. (T.518) The ESE teachers testified that they agreed with the statements contained in the 11/09/93 memo. (Burgess T.519-21); (Siskind T.585-86) (Peskin T.3192-93) (Esposito T. 3294-95) This 11/09/93 memo states:

We, the ESE teachers of Miramar High School, are writing this letter to express our concerns over the lack of security and safety of the teachers and students in the ESE area of the school. Because of the amount of safety problems in the portable area, [a couple lines were redacted per court order] Teachers and ESE students have been threatened and harmed. We are concerned about our physical safety. Please address this problem and implement solutions as soon as possible. Thank you for your prompt attention.

Every teacher who testified in this case admitted to the jury that it was an extraordinary action to write and send a memo like that (T.3212). They explained it was done because they feared for their own and their students' physical safety at Miramar High around the ESE portables where the very danger that they warned about later harmed Louie John Cruz. (T.500, 582-83, 3206, 3283-85)

Miss Burgess testified that the ESE teachers grouped together to discuss the lack of safety at Miramar High and talked to the school's principal and administration. (T.503) She was personally involved in writing the 11/09/93 memo (T.519,524) and attested that it was delivered to the administration, Mr. Gillette on that date (T.520,524). She explained that the memo addressed the safety of both teachers and students in the ESE portable area as a culmination of many things going on there. (T.521, 567) Some particulars of what led up to this 11/09/93 memo were given: Miss Burgess saw the cluster students get teased by the other students at Miramar High (T.502); students dealing drugs (T.495); "one student slash another in the face" with "a razor exacto knife type of instrument" (T.497) next to the ESE portables (T.560); students having sex underneath her portable during lunchtime when she was tutoring a blind student (T.498, 542); a knife found out in the portable area that had been displayed to another student (T.567); and fellow teacher, Mr. Peskin, being threatened by a student who "started throwing chairs and things through the windows of the portable and at Mr. Peskin" when told to stop smoking. (T.523)

To alert administration, Miss Burgess stated, "We sent a student, however long it took the student to run to the front office and get somebody and bring them back." (T.524) During these times, she observed no supervision (T.497, 522) and admitted that the call buttons used to call for help were not working in her portable. (T.493) After seeing all these things, she unequivocally admitted that she did not feel safe prior to 11/30/93 teaching in that portable area and did not feel her students were safe out in that portable area. (T.500) Nothing changed in the ESE portable area between the 11/09/93 memo and the 11/30/93 incident injuring Louie John. (T.524)

Miss Siskind left Miramar High because she did not feel safe. (T.582-83) She felt its administration was not responding to the teachers' worries about safety in the isolated area of the portables where she taught and where nobody assisted the ESE teachers in the supervision and control of behavior (T.583-84). She carried a cellular phone so she could call for help if she needed it. (T.585) In her own words, "I just felt like there was no presence of security to deter anybody from doing whatever they wanted, and I used to see a lot of kids that – I would describe in a word as scary hiding back there." (T.585)

Prior to the 11/9/93 memo, the ESE teachers drafted, signed and turned in a letter to Pam Carroll, the "ESE specialist" who oversaw the records and placement of all students in the ESE programs (T.1979), and as of 12/01/93 also assistant principal. (T.1991, 2031). That letter voiced the ESE teachers' safety concerns and asked for solutions. Miss Siskind was present when this letter to administration at Miramar High was delivered to and read by Pamela Carroll. (T.586, 625) The letter dealt with the same issues as the 11/09/93 memo but in more expanded form. All of the ESE teachers in the portable area admitted to signing the letter delivered to Pam Carroll. When it was delivered, Pamela Carroll held a meeting with the ESE teachers to criticize them for signing something so poorly written with typos and grammatical errors. Miss Siskind said, "She [Pamela Carroll] felt that since the letter was so poorly written, if this is what we wanted to say, we should say it different and get it to Mr. Gillette." (T592) It was rewritten in the form of the 11/09/93 memo to the Principal, Mr. Gillette. (T.586-92) When asked whether, prior to Louie being hurt, the administration at Miramar High responded to these fears for safety expressed by the teachers, Siskind answered, "The administration being Mr. Gillette, no, they didn't respond." (T.602)

Mr. Peskin signed onto the 11/09/93 memo (T.3192-93) and remembered signing his name to the letter criticized by Pam Carroll but not the specifics of

that letter (T.3196-97). He admitted that the area in which the ESE teachers were concerned about the safety of their students was the exact area where Louie John Cruz got hurt. (T.3206) He recollected incidents where students in this area were fighting (T.3212-13), where special students had things stolen from them in this area (T.3214-15) and where students would get their lunch money stolen because "our kids looked like an easy mark." (T.3207)

Miss Esposito recalled the threat to Mr. Peskin and another where a student in her class pulled a knife out for her to see while showing it to another student. (T.3282, 3296-97) She was part of the ESE teachers' group that brought the safety and security problems to the attention of their superior, Pamela Carroll. (T.3283-84) She admitted that she did not feel safe at that time (T3284-85), was very concerned about the isolation of the portables and the mainstream kids going there to cut classes and hide out ("hanging out back there getting high back there, things like that" T.3300), and thought she was in physical danger in the portable area. (T.3294) The teachers talked about it so much they went as a group to Pamela Carroll with their concerns about the safety and security in the area of the portables but were rebuked for their poor grammar. (T.3295)

Miss Carroll admitted that the expression of fear for the safety of the students and teachers under her supervision in the memo was of significance

(T.1984), but she could not recall the memo or being aware of parent concerns for safety in the ESE portable area of Miramar High during the fall of 1993 (T1992). She could not recall speaking with parents such as Mrs. Piedra about this. (*Id.*) She could not recall Mrs. Cruz coming to her before Louie John was hurt with concerns about his safety (T.2161). She admitted that unlawful behavior at Miramar increased after the Cruz incident until 1995. (T.2160).

Mrs. Tanya Piedra testified. Her son Danny was a 15-year-old student in the cluster program at Miramar High in the beginning of the 1993 school year. She told how her Down Syndrome boy "would repeatedly come home with chewing gum in his hair," "without his crucifix we had for generations," "without lunch because . . . his lunch money was taken away from his backpack," and "with a pencil that stuck on the side of his rib cage." (T.1395, 1398).

Every day she dropped and picked up Danny at Miramar High and "would sit in my car facing directly to the portable and watch what went on." (T.1392). She saw hair pulling fights, book throwing, pushing, shoving and mischief and became afraid for her son and the rest of the children. (T.1397) She observed, "There was no supervision whatsoever in the mornings or in the afternoons, especially in the mornings." (T.1393) When she complained

several times to the administration of Miramar High, and specifically to Pamela Carroll, about these concerns for safety, the administration assured her that "they were going to do something about it . . . and nothing was ever done." (T.1394-95) She took Danny out of school in December 1993, because she was afraid he was going to get hurt. (T.1405)

Mrs. Cruz remembered speaking with Pamela Carroll repeatedly before 11/30/93 about her concerns for safety and the lack of supervision at Miramar High. (T.2184) Specifically she told Miss Carroll about a student who threatened to kill her son and how her son was scared of that boy, about her son's lunch money being taken and how he couldn't make a phone call in an emergency if he was left without even a quarter, and asked why nothing was being done about it. (T.2184-88) She shared her concerns with many of the teachers. Like Mrs. Piedra, when she would drop off and pick up her son, what she observed made her scared, frightened and uncomfortable when nothing was changed. (T.2191-93)

On cross-examination, the defense asked Miss Tyther, the student who witnessed the Cuz altercation, about any problems she had with security in the portable area. In response, and without any objections, she replied that:

Security – out there in the portables there was not enough security. There was security in the main part . . . but none out there. The only person out there was the teachers, and the teachers cannot teach and watch the kids . . . so they did need more security out in the portables.

(T. 728) A student peer counselor during the 1993 fall semester observed gambling and fighting as a regular occurrence in the ESE portable area with no teachers around. (T.2722-23) Teachers, students, parents and administrators unanimously proved that defendant negligently breached its duty to provide a reasonably safe environment for students like Louie John Cruz on 11/30/93.

### **Damages**

Although Louie was mildly mentally retarded before the incident,<sup>2</sup> he led a normal life. He was obedient, respectful, personable, polite, happy and kind. (T.484, 581, 2907, 2790, 2728, 2731,3932) He worked hard at school and even received recognition for his championship spirit. (T.2701, 3923) Louie wrote a Halloween story in school before the incident:

It was a dark night, I was walking home as usual down a dark alley. All of a sudden a car zoomed past me, but there was no driver in the car, it was driving itself. I ran as fast as I could into an old shack. I decided to take a look around. I saw a rifle on the wall and it began shooting by itself. I ducked.

Then the door of the old shack opened by itself. I ran outside the door and up the street. I found a car. When I got in it, it began driving me by itself. I looked out the back car window and saw we were in some kind of dark tunnel, and it was filled with blood

13

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Broward County School Board never used this label, only learning disabled. (T.575, 1790, 2686-87, 2702, 3561) Although Mrs. Cruz found the word "retard" painful, she accepted this about her son. (T.2686)

sucking bats and spiders, and I didn't know if this was a trick or a treat. After all, it was Halloween.

I decided to take it all as a treat, especially since a Snicker bar appeared in my hand all by itself. I just sat back and ate my candy bar in the car with no driver enjoying my ride all by myself to my home.

(T.2700-01) Mrs. Cruz, when asked, said she lent no assistance on this story. (T.4350) Louie's "mission was to save the world." (T.2669)

After school and on weekends Louie would visit museums, fish and dig for worms, skateboard, play tennis and basketball, throw a football and Frisbee, ride his bike, go to movies and out to dinner, attend friends' sports games, play and eat with friends, and take tae-kwon-do instruction. (T.2179-80, 2780, 2786) He never used foul language, thought "shut up" was a swear word, and was never verbally or physically aggressive. (T.2180-83) Louie wanted to please, never to hurt. "He fed mocking birds out of his hands, brought butterflies on his arm." (T.2182) Neighbors described Louie John as a very active, polite and loving boy. (T.2711-16, 2731, 2907-08, 2947)

His younger brother, Anthony, wrote of him in a school paper as "a hero in his life because he was the most courageous person he ever knew. He was able to overcome everything that ever happens to him." (T.2170) With one exception—when he was slammed to the ground on his head on 11/30/93.

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