IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1550

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: 4D98-2170

LUIS JOHN CRUZ, ETC., ET AL.

Petitioners,

-vs-

BROWARD COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRUCE J. WINICK ADMITTED PRO HAC VICE Faculty University Of Miami School of Law 1311 Miller Drive Coral Gables, Florida 33146 Miami, Florida 33054 (305) 284-3031

AMY D. RONNER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0511470 Faculty Suite St. Thomas University School of Law 16400 N.W. 32nd Avenue (305) 623-2322

Counsel For Broward County School Board, Respondents

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

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

The costs of compensating all of these "secondary victims"

could be staggering, as could the impact on insurance rates. The economic and social impact of extending recovery to those who are merely secondary victims is not a real agenda for the judiciary. Because the legislative branch can hold legislative hearings to inform itself concerning the consequences of extending consortium damages and is institutionally better equipped to make the kinds of political accommodations and compromises that might be called for, it is the appropriate branch to ascertain these consequences and assess where and how lines should be drawn.¹²

This is particularly true with respect to areas that have recently been the subject of legislative attention and action. Because the legislature has acted in the area of consortium damages, specifying when children may recover for the loss of

In its brief at 38, Cruz cites a garnishment case, Mazzella v. Bonis,617 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. dismissed 626 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1993), which is completely irrelevant. In that case, a debtor argued that "child" can include an adult child with respect to the statute prohibiting attachment or garnishment of wages for the head of a family. In siding with the debtor, the Fourth District made it clear that this was a unique statute and that it was abiding by this Court's mandate "that the exemption is for the benefit of the debtor and should be liberally construed in the debtor's favor." Id. at 1157. There is no such policy here. In fact, with respect to filial consortium awards, this Court has not opened the doors wide and ushered in a flood of plaintiffs. The heightened <u>Dempsey</u> standard that requires "a significant injury resulting in the child's permanent total disability," United States v. Dempsey, 636 So.2d at 965, is indicative of a policy to make filial consortium a limited cause of action.

their parents' consortium, this is an area that should be presumptively left to legislative judgment. <u>See generally Elgin</u> <u>v. Bartlett</u>, 994 P.2d 411, 419(Co. 1999) ("[M]any courts articulate deference to the legislature in this arena [of filial consortium].").

Since tort law generally has been of legislative interest,¹³ the wisdom of what unquestionably would be a significant expansion of tort law to include the indirect damages of those who are merely secondary victims should therefore be trusted to the democratic process. While there may be a special role for the judiciary in protecting the rights of discreet and insular minorities who lack power in the legislative process, or in the protection of fundamental rights, <u>see United States v. Caroline</u> <u>Products Co.</u>, 304 U.S. 144, 152-53 n.4 (1938), no special need

¹³ There has been a flurry of recent legislative activity on the subject of tort reform. <u>See, e.g.</u>, §381.0056, Fla. Stat. (1999 amendment) (providing limitations on tort actions for providers of school health services); S.B. 2106, 2000 Leg., Reg. Sess (2000)(limiting availability of punitive damages in suits against automobile liability insurers that exceed policy limits) (not enacted); H.B. 1537, 2000 Leg., Reg. Sess. (2000) (providing tort liability for injuries resulting from defects in design or manufacture of guns) (not enacted); S.B. 378, 1999 Leg., Reg. Sess. (1999) (limiting liability for owner of business premises) (not enacted); S.B. 378, 1999 Leg., Reg. Sess. (1999) (requiring clear and convincing evidence of gross negligence or intentional misconduct as a condition for recovery punitive damages and imposing monetary limits thereon) (not enacted).

exists in this context for the judiciary to preempt the political process. <u>Cf. Mizrahi v. North Miami Medical Center, Ltd.</u>, 761 So.2d 1040, 1043 (Fla. 2000) ("[S]tatute which created a right of action for many while excluding a specific class from such action, and which exclusion is rationally related to controlling healthcare costs and accessibility, does not violate . . .equal protection guarantees.). Separation of powers concerns and basic principles of democracy thus strongly augur against judicial activism in this area.

c.

THE AMICUS AND PETITIONERS' CASES ARE EITHER INAPPLICABLE OR WRONG

We, of course, do not deny that there are other jurisdictions that either implicitly or explicitly let parents of adult children recover filial consortium awards. <u>See, e.g.,</u> <u>Frank v. Superior Court of the State of Arizona</u>, 722 P.2d 955 (Ariz. 1989); <u>Masaki v. General Motors Corp.</u>, 780 P.2d 566 (Haw. 1989); <u>Rosario v. United States</u>, 824 F. Supp. 268 (D. Mass. 1993) (applying Massachusetts law). Since these cases are either inapplicable or just plain wrong, this Court should decline to follow them.

Rosario, 824 F. Supp. 268, is inapposite because it rests on a state statute that allows parents to recover for injured adult

children. That is, the <u>Rosario</u> court deferred to the Massachusetts legislature that enacted a statute providing:

The parents of a minor child **or an adult child** who is dependent on his parents for support shall have a cause of action for loss of consortium of the child who has been seriously injured against any person who is legally responsible for causing such injury.

<u>Id.</u> at 288, <u>quoting</u> Mass. Gen. Laws Ann. Ch. 231,§85X (West Supp. 1993) (emphasis added).¹⁴ <u>Rosario</u> is a legislative deference case and it is inapplicable because Florida, unlike Massachusetts, has no express statute allowing recovery of filial consortium damages for adult children.

The amicus brief at 6 recites a portion of the wrongful death act, section 768.21(4) (1999) which states that "Each parent of an adult child may also recover for mental pain and suffering if there are not other survivors." Obviously, this provision, which does not deal with consortium, but rather recovery for wrongful death, is inapposite. But if somehow this narrow statutory exception has any bearing on filial consortium

¹⁴ <u>Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc.</u>, 656 P.2d 483 (Wash. 1983) is a similar case in which the Court deferred to a statute that allowed parental recovery for non-minors under certain circumstances and provided that "[t]he mother or father or both may maintain an action as plaintiff for the injury or death of a minor child, or a child on whom either, or both, are dependent for support. . ." <u>Id.</u> at492 n.9, quoting RCW 4.24.010. Once again, the state legislative process resulted in line-drawing.

damages at all, it really endorses our position, not theirs. What it indicates is that when our legislature wishes to expand the reach of a law beyond the norm, beyond the age of majority, it indeed says so. That is, it does so explicitly.¹⁵ The fact that the legislature has been silent with respect to the present filial consortium issue, despite the fact that Florida courts have for so long applied such awards only to minors, indicates that the legislature acquiesces in and does not wish to raise the filial consortium ceiling.

The amicus brief offers this Court the New Jersey case, <u>Mealey v. Marella</u>, 744 A.2d 1226 (N.J. Super. Ct. Law Div. 1999). This case, however, has been expressly overruled. In <u>Tynan v.</u> <u>Cruzi</u>, 753 A.2d 187, 187 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2000), the court, declining to extend the common law, precluded a parent from "maintain[ing] an action for per quod damages, including loss of society and companionship, as a result of injuries sustained by her child after the child has reached the age of majority." The <u>Tynan</u> court expressly "overrul[ed] the holding[] [in] <u>Mealey</u> to the extent that [it] extend[s] a parents right to

¹⁵ Section 768.18(2) of the Florida Wrongful Death Act defines "minor children" as those under the age of 25 regardless of the age of majority. Again, all that indicates is that when our legislature wishes to expand the reach of a law beyond the norm, beyond the age of majority, it indeed says so.

seek per quod damages beyond that permitted by common law." <u>Id.</u> at 192. If, however, the *amicus* employs the overruled case to merely fuel the proposition that there might be no "meaningful distinction between death and severe injury," (*amicus* brief at 6), then it is again highlighting a controversial policy issue, one involving line drawing, one squarely within the legislative province.

Both the petitioner and the *amicus* urge this Court to follow <u>Frank</u>, 722 P.2d 955. While the language in <u>Frank</u> is admittedly quite eloquent and seductive, the reasoning is just plain wrong.¹⁶ In <u>Frank</u>, 722 P.2d at 959, the court opined that states which restrict the parents' filial consortium action to recovery for minor children are "haunted by the common law master-servant heritage." The court felt that "[t]he demise of the pecuniary services theory of consortium and subsequent emergence of companionship and society as the primary components of the action has vitiated the legitimacy of any age distinction in filial

¹⁶ While Cruz's contention that "the <u>Dempsey</u> opinion repeatedly cites <u>Frank</u>" (petitioner's brief at 40) is somewhat hyperbolic, we, of course, concede that in <u>Dempsey</u>, this Court cites <u>Frank</u>, but, as the court below pointed out, this Court cited it for a completely different proposition - - not one pertaining to the issue before this Court. <u>See</u> decision below, <u>Broward County School Board v. Cruz</u>, 761 So.2d at 396 n. 1 ("<u>Frank</u> was cited for a different proposition").

consortium actions." <u>Id.</u> at 960. <u>See also Masaki</u>, 780 P.2d at 577 (same).

The problem with the analysis in Frank and Masaki is that it is inside out and backwards. As explained above, the common law drew an analogy between the parent-child relationship and the master-servant relationship. See Dempsey. 635 So.2d at 963. As we also said, such a model no longer "reflects our modern concept of family relationships." Id. at 964. What emphasized above and reiterate here is that **allowing** a filial consortium award for adult children is what is "haunted by the common law masterservant heritage." Frank, 722 P.2d at 959. What such a limitless recovery embraces is the archaic agrarian notion of the adult child as an ongoing economic asset that will continue to "work the farm" or provide monetary support for aging parents. Such, an approach clashes with contemporary reality, the fact that today children go away and tend to live independently. <u>See.</u> e.q., E.L.K., 760 F. Supp. at 147 ("Once emancipation or majority is attained, the [parent/child] relationship is different"). In short, the only arguable support for Cruz's position is either inapplicable or just flawed.

II.

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT RECONSIDER THE EN BANC COURT'S RECORD-BASED DETERMINATION THAT THE TRIAL COURT HAD

ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE SCHOOL BOARD'S REQUEST FOR AN INDEPENDENT NEUROLOGICAL EXAMINATION WHEN THE CRITICAL ISSUE AT TRIAL WAS WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF'S ALLEGED NEUROLOGICAL CONDITION WAS CAUSED BY THE BUMP ON THE HEAD THAT HE SUSTAINED AT SCHOOL OR WAS PRE-EXISTING

Cruz's brief goes beyond the certified question to ask this Court to review the *en banc* determination below that the trial court had abused its discretion and committed reversible error in refusing to permit the School Board's neurological expert, Dr. Brown, to conduct an independent neurological examination of Cruz.

We observe at the outset that this is a singularly inappropriate issue for this Court's consideration. It involves no novel issue of law, and no issue upon which there is a conflict among the district courts of appeal. Rather, it involves a straightforward application of the settled rule that an examination by a medical expert is allowed as an essential part of discovery whenever the plaintiff's claim places his medical condition in issue. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.360(a)(1). Rather than presenting an open question of law in need of resolution by this Court, Cruz's brief seeks review of an essentially factual determination made by the *en banc* court that the trial judge had abused its discretion in this regard and that this error was seriously prejudicial to the School Board's ability to conduct

its defense at trial.

The *en banc* court conducted a searching examination of the extensive record in this case and unanimously concluded that the trial court's refusal to permit the School Board's expert to conduct this critical neurological examination of the plaintiff, based in part on misrepresentations by Cruz's lawyer that neurological damages were not involved, constituted error and that the error was not harmless. This Court should not reach out beyond the certified question to revisit this highly record-based determination.

Although we do not think it appropriate for this Court to expend its scarce appellate resources in reconsidering the highly fact-bound issue that served as the basis for reversal below, we would like to comment on some of the Cruz argument in this connection and to refer the Court to the opinion below, which clearly and properly rejected them, and to our Initial Brief and Cross-Appellee's Answer/Rely Brief in the district court, which demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in depriving the School Board of its right to an independent neurological exam and that such deprivation was highly prejudicial. As the court below found, "[d]espite any argument to the contrary, Cruz's mental condition was clearly in

controversy in this case." <u>Broward County School Board v. Cruz</u>, 761 So.2d at 393. The trial court had been "misled" by arguments to the contrary opposing Dr. Brown's neurological examination, and therefore denied the request. <u>Id.</u> As the court below found, "the cause of Cruz's mental condition and, specifically, the change, if any, in his neurological state, was the central issue in this trial. . ." <u>Id.</u> at 394. In arguing that the school had no liability for Cruz's injuries, the School Board sought to show that Cruz's condition was pre-existing and not caused by the bump on his head. The trial court's denial of the School Board's proper request for an independent neurological examination prevented the School Board from defending itself on liability and damages. Consequently, the court below properly found that "the School Board should have been allowed the opportunity to have its own expert conduct an independent examination." <u>Id.</u>

Cruz incorrectly contends that Dr. Brown's neurological examination would have been superfluous in light of examinations already conducted by the School Board's psychiatrist, Dr. Mutter and neuropsychologist, Dr. Russell. But Dr. Mutter did not conduct a neurological examination; he merely performed a psychiatric evaluation that served as the basis for his testimony that Cruz suffered only from a psychiatric disorder, a treatable post-traumatic stress disorder. And Dr. Russell, who was a

neuropsychologist, not a neurologist or a medical doctor, was not qualified to render an opinion as to the cause of organic brain damage, the central issue in the case.¹⁷ This is why the School Board sought to have Dr. Brown, a pediatric neurologist, conduct an independent neurological examination of Cruz, and why the trial court's denial of this request prejudiced its ability to show that Cruz's damages were pre-existing and not caused by the injury he sustained at school. <u>See</u> Appellant-cross Appellee's answer brief/reply brief in the court below at 14-18; appellant-Cross-Appellee's Initial Brief in the court below at 9-10.

Cruz's argument is essentially one of harmless error, an issue upon which it had the burden of proof. Because there can be no way of knowing what Dr. Brown's independent neurological examination would have found, the value of permitting the requested exam cannot be said to be harmless. Moreover, after Cruz succeeded in blocking the School Board's attempt to obtain an independent neurological examination by Dr. Brown, Cruz's counsel was allowed, right in front of the jury, to denigrate Dr. Brown for his failure to conduct that very examination. <u>See</u> Appellant's Initial Brief in the court below at 46-47. Cruz's

¹⁷ It was then the law that a neuropsychologist was not qualified to render an opinion about the cause of organic brain damage. <u>See generally Executive Car & Truck Leasing,</u> <u>Inc. v. DeSerio</u>, 468 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

attempt to justify this outrageous remark on the basis that the School Board's trial counsel questioned one of Cruz's witnesses is misleading¹⁸ and does not detract from the fact that emphasizing before the jury that Dr. Brown had not done his job by conducting the necessary examination further demonstrates the harmfulness of the denial of the School Board's opportunity to have him do so.

III.

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